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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Located in the midst of what was once a vital black settlement
on the west side of downtown, Antioch Missionary Baptist Church now
stands as the final reminder of that important segment of Houston's
Black history. As Houston's business district began to expand into
this area in the 1950's, the small Black residential and business
community gradually disappeared. Today Antioch Church stands on a
tiny lot amidst ground-level commercial parking. A couple of blocks
to the east, the multi-story Allen Center Office Building and the
Regency Hyatt Hotel stand as the now predominant building scale for
the area. Only two blocks to the north is Sam Houston Park display-
ing examples of 19th century Houston homes, while the freeway runs
within two blocks of the church to the west.

A simple one-story frame rectangular building formed the first
meeting place for the church in 1867 at the corner of Rusk and Bagby
Streets, 6 blocks north of the present church site. With the increased
enrollment, the church voted to buy new land in 1873 on Robin Street,
the present location of Antioch Baptist Church. Between 1875-1879
Richard Allen, a contractor and member of Antioch, built a one-story
brick building, 70' x 40', which served as the church building until
the 1890's.

z ~ re -

The decade of the 1890's saw the enlargement of the building
to its present form. The congregation voted in 1891 to accept the
bid of Robert Jones to enlarge the church, but Rev. Yates, Antioch's
minister since 1868, resigned due to his objection over borrowing
the money to, complete the remodeling. For three years the church
was without leaaership and the plans were discontinued. However,
in 1894, the church members chose Rev. Frederick Lee Lights as the
new minister and he began to finalize plans for remodeling the church.

Enlarged from the original one-story building, the new Antioch
Missionary Baptist Church was basically a two-story brick T-shaped
building with gabled wings at the north (front), west and south
facades. A semi-octagonal bay projected on a portion of the east
facade. Rising from the intersection of the north and west wings
a three-story brick tower crowned by a slender wooden belfry and
steeple dominated the structure. At the first floor of the front
gable and tower were two double wooden doors with a pointed arched
transom. Above each of these entrances was a grouping of two small
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lancet windows and above them a round window with star motif.
Flanking the east side of the central door was a small rectangular
window on the first level and a narrow lancet window on the second
level. Molded brick pilasters divided the gable into three bays,
while buttresses formed the corner supports on the tower.

The west, south and east facades contained similar apertures.
with rectangular openings on the first floor and lancet windows
across the second floor. Brick pilasters divided these elevations
into bays, while buttresses marked the corners of the semi-octagonal
bay at the east.

A storm in 1915 blew the steeple off the original tower and
it was replaced by a brick addition. The dentilled cornice and
pedimented roof crowning the original brick portion were removed
and a square brick addition replaced the original wooden belfry
and spire. Two lancet windows formed the opening in the new
addition and buttresses were added to support the corners. A
parapet completed the tower with small spire projections at each
corner.

Further remodelings in the 1930's replaced the grouping of
small lancet windows and circular window on the gabled wings and
in the upper portion of the tower with a large stained glass,
pointed arched window. A one-story, pitch-roofed entrance vesti-
bule was attached to the west of the tower and some two-story
additions were made at the southeast and southwest (rear) corners
of the church. The original brick was plastered and scored.

The interior plan contains the auditorium and offices on the
first floor, while the sanctuary takes up most of the 2nd-story
space. The pulpit rests in the octagonal wing on the east and
the pews are arranged in a semi-circle around the pulpit. The
sanctuary floor slopes to the pulpit providing a good viewing
space from any seat. Enclosed at the southwest are a choir
room and finance room, at the southeast are the pastor's study
and a small chapel, and at the northeast corner is the baptismal.
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Open beam ceilings follow the contour of the pitched roof, dropped
in the center to form a flat ridge. The pointed arched, stained
glass windows, visible on the 2nd floor of the exterior, light the
sanctuary. A unique feature of these windows is the circular
brown stained glass in the center of the windows that display the
portraits of prominent figures associatéd with the church.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Antioch Missionary Baptist Church has important historical
significance both to Houston and to the city's Black community. One of
the oldest remaining buildings in the downtown area, the church repre-
sents a part of 19th century Houston that is fast disappearing from the
city's architectural landscape. To Houston's Black community, the
church's significance arises from its being the oldest Black Baptist
Church in the city and the mother church for succeeding Black Baptist
congrégatlons. In addition, the church is associated with several im-
portant historical leaders in the Black community and did pioneering
work in the field of Black education in Houston. As one of the few
structures that chronicles the contribution of Blacks to 19th century
Houston, Antioch Baptist Church represents an epoch of ethnic history
that figures prominently into the development of the city.

Antioch Missionary Baptist Church was organized in January 1866
as the first Black Baptist Church in Houston. The first services were
held in the First Baptist Church and the Géfman Baptist ‘Church, but
by August 1866 the members built a brush arbor on the banks of the
Buffalo Bayou as a place to worship. . L. Bs Campbell a Black
Missionary sent by the White Bapist Miss. Society, ministered to this
new group and by the following Spring, the member ship had greatly in-
creased and a large frame structure was built at the corner of Rusk
and Bagby Streets.

A friend of Rev. Campbell's, Rev. John Henry Yates, was chosen
in 1868, shortly after his ordination by Campbell, as the first full
time pastor of Antioch. A native of Virginia, Rev. Yates was born
a slave and moved to Matagorda County, Texas, in 1863 or 1864. Follow-
ing Texas Emancipation in 1865, he settled his family in the young city
of Houston. Yates became a property owner and continued to invest in
land throughout the 19th century. He tirelessly urged his congregatlon
to invest their meager savings in Fourth Ward real estate and become
property owners. Yates was also responsible for persuading his con- .
gregation to purchase a site with the Trinity Methodist Church to use
as a park commemorating Texas Emancipation Day, June 19, 1865.
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By 1873, the frame structure was too small to accommodate the
growing congregation and the trustees voted to purchase land for a new
building., Two lots were purchased on Antioch's present site and Richard
Allen was chosen as the builder. The foundation was laid in 1875 for
the one-story brick structure on Robin Street and was finally completed
in August 1879.

The church's builder, Richard Allen, was born in Virginia and later
moved to Texas. After Emancipation, he settled his family in Harris
County. A contractor and bridge builder by profession, Allen was also
a prominent political figure. During Reconstruction, Allen was elected
from Harris County to the 1l2th Legislative Session in 1870-71, the first
Texas Legislature in which Blacks served. He continued in local politics
as Customs Collector of the Port of Houston, City Alderman and City
Scavenger. He was the first Grand Master of the Colored Masons of Texas
and was a presidential elector every term until four years prior to
his death in 1911.

Antioch Baptist Church under Rev. Yates' guidance was also a pioneer
in the field of Black education. As one of the initial contributors
toward the establishment of Bishop College, a school for Blacks founded
in Texas by Nathan Bishop of New York, Rev. Yates tried to have the
institution located in Houston. He was disappointed when Marshall was
selected as the site in 1881, However, in 1885, the Northern Baptist
Convention sent two white missionaries, Florence Dysart, and Jennie L.
Peck, to the Antioch Missionary Baptist Church and helped Rev. Yates
establish the Houston Baptist Academy in 1885. The Academy (later known
as Houston College) was identified variously in the Houston City Direc-
tories as a private literary, industrial and ministerial school for
Blacks and operated through the 1920's.

In 1891, Antioch voted to remodel their church, but activities
were stalled after Rev. Yates resigned that year. The second full
time pastor, Rev. Frederick L. Lights, took over as minister of Antioch
in 1894, Rev. kights began to finalize plans for completing the church
alterations. The structure was enlarged to a two-story brick edifice

during the first years of his pastorate and has maintained this basic
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shape through the 20th century. Serving the Antioch community from
1894-1921, Rev. Lights became a recognized leader in local, state and
national religious, educational and civic affairs. For many years he
served as President of the Foreign Mission Convention of Texas and

an officer in the National Baptist Convention. In addition, he was
President of the General Board of Trustees of Missionary and Educa-
tional Convention, President of the Minister's Alliance of Houston

and Treasurer of 0ld Land Mark Association. His educational interests
engaged him as the Chairman of the Board of Trustees for the Houston
Baptist Academy and he also assisted in the establishment of The
Western Star, a weekly Black newspaper in Dallas and Houston. Finally,
Rev. Lights was recognized as a leader in the business community by
being chosen as President of the Oregon Bank, a bank for Blacks in the
vicinity of Antioch Church.

Throughout the 20th century the Antioch Baptist Church has con-
tinued to provide leadership in religious, educational, and civic
activities. Once the center of a cohesive Black settlement, Antioch
Baptist Church now finds itself surrounded by parking lots and dwarfed
by nearby modern construction. As surrounding buildings have fallen
victim to the downtown expansion, the historic Antioch Missionary Baptist
Church remains one of the few tangible reminders of the contributions
of Blacks to 19th century Houston.
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Antioch Missionary Baptist Church
North Elevation
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PHOTO #2 +f 7
Antioch Missionary Baptist Church
Northwest Oblique

Photo By: Mike Yancey, 9-76
Texas Historical Commission
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Antioch Missionary Baptist Church
East Elevation
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Antioch Missionary Baptist Church
Southeast Oblique
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PHOTO #5 .7 7
Antioch Missionary Baptist Church
Southwest Oblique

Photo By: Mike Yancey, 9-76
Texas Historical Commission
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PHOTO #6 ~/ 7

Antioch Missionary Baptist Church

North Window Detail Showing Images
of Black Leaders

Photo By: Mike Yancey, 9-76
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Antioch Missionary Baptist Church
Northwest Oblique

Historic Photo, ca. 1912
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TEXAS HISTORICAL COMMISSION
P. 0. BOX 12276 CAPITOL STATION AUSTIN, TEXAS 78711

TRUETT LATIMER
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

September 21,

National Register of Historic Places
Department of the Interior

National Park Service

18th and C Streets, N. W.
Washington, D. C. 20240

To Whom It May Concern:

Because we félt there was a need to send in the nomination
for the Antioch Missionary Baptist Church immediately, we
are sending the submission without the photographs at

this time. However, the prints of this Houston church
should be ready within a few days.

Sincerely,

77 lue // /%/W

Marie D. Landon
Coordinator, National
Register Submissions

MDL/s
Enclosure



October 26, 1976

Dr. William Murtagh

National Register of Histornic PLaces
Deparntment of the Interion

National Park Service

18th and C. Streets, N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20240

Dearn Dr. Murtagh:

I am wiuiting to urge you and the members of the National Register
Committee to approve the Listing of Antioch Baptist Church of Houston
on the National Registern as a histornic site.

I am not a member of the church but I am a Black Houstonian. You are
probably aware of the significance of this old church to Houston's black
community. It 48 a visible nemindern of the persistent faith and instinct
gorn survival that has maintained black people through some thying times.

I have committed myself to become involved in preserving this structure
in any way 1 can.

I uwrge you again o approve its nomination.
Thank you.

Sincenely, /\

Many-viéﬂez Buns

3021 Bewlah S%.
Houston, Texas 77004
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ENTRIES IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

STATE TEXAS
Date Entered DEC 2 2 1976

Name Location
L Antioch Missionary Baptist Church Houston
Los Ojuelos Mirando City vicinity
Webb County

Also Notified

State Historic Preservation Officer

Hon. John G. Tower

Hon. Lloyd M. Bentsem Mr. Truett Latimer

Hon. Barbara C. Jordan Executive Director

Hon. Abraham Kazen, Jr. Texas Historical Commission
Region ¥ Austin, Texas 78711

880 MMott/row 1/7/17



National Trust for Historic Preservation

SOUTHWEST/PLAINS FIELD OFFICE 903 COLCORD BUILDING OKLAHOMA CITY, OKLAHOMA 73102 (405) 232-3179

Maxch 8, 1977

Mrs. Sammie W. Ellis
Apartment 339

11260 Chestnut Grove Square
Reston, Virginia 22070

Dear Mrs. Ellis:

It was a pleasure to receive your interested and informative
letter of February 24th. The history of the Antdoch Baptist
Church in Houston is a long and significant one, a story which
encourages and elicits admiration.

I gather that the church was finally listed on the National
Register of Historic Places. I also gather that there are a
contingent of persons connected with the parish who dispute
that listing. This is not unusual. However, the practical
matters of the listing and the dispute must be handled by
those agencies responsible for the National Register program.
These are the Texas Historical Commission and the Office of
Archaeology and Historic Preservation of the National Park
Service. The National Trust for Historic Preservation does
not have any responsibilities in this program. Some brochures
on the National Register program and the National Trust are
enclosed.

I am taking the liberty, by copy of this letter, to forward
your letter to the appropriate authorities which are mentioned
above. I would encourage you to address any further comments
on this issue to these agencies directly. Their addresses are:

Mr. Truett Latimer, Executive Director
Texas Historical Commission

Post Office Box 12276, Capitol Station
Amatin, Texas 78711

Mr. William J. Murtagh

Keeper of the National Register
National Park Service
Washington, D.C. 20240

Headquarters Office: 740-748 Jackson Place, N. W., Washington, D. C. 20006 (202) 638-5200







Mrs. Sammie W. Ellis
Page 2
March 8, 1977

Thank you again for your interest and your comments. If
the National Trust can be of further assistance, please
contact this office again.

Sincerely,

Cynthia Emrick
Director

CE/th

bcc Truett Latimer, SHPO
Nancy Negley, NTA
Virginia Talkington, NTA
Eugene George, AIA-SPC
/William Murtagh



SAMMIE W. ELLIS
Apt. 339
11260 Chestnut Grove Square

O A Reston, Virginia 22070

NYSTROM Phone: (703) 471-7269

| February 24, 1977
RECEIVED

National Trust for Historic Preservation
740-748 Jackson Place N.W. FEB 23 1977
Washington, D.C. 20006 e

Dear Sir:

ABVISORY )
In the year 1866, black in Houston, Texas, organized the Antioch Baptist
Church in the white First Baptist Church. After meeting for a year,
they moved their services to a bush arbor on the banks of the Buffalo
Bayou where they later constructed a one room church. Under the leader-
ship of Rev. Jack Yates, land was purchased in 1874 at 313-15 Robin
Street, downtown Houston, and in 1875 they began construction of the
oldest institution owned and controlled by black freedmen and slaves

in the State of Texas, the Antioch Missionary Baptist Church.

The Rev. Jack Yates and his wife, Harriett Willis Yates had come to
Texas as the result of his wife having tried to escape to Canada from
Gloster County, Virginia, being caught and sold with her children to a
slaveowner in Matagorda County, Texas, at which time his slavemaster
in Virginia allowed him to pay his way as a freedman to Texas in order
to accompany his family and to keep them together.

From its inception, the Antioch Church emphasized education, excellence,
land ownership and development, business, racial pride, respect for
heritage and culture. Antioch has aided in the education of numerous
blacks both financially and morally. It offered a pulpit from which
many black leaders in all walks of life could speak to encourage our
youth. As a young teenager, I can recall the late Dr. Martin Luther
King, Jr., before the Montgomery days as our Youth Day Speaker and
later as a great Civil Rights leader. Antioch has been a symbol to
Texans and Jack Yates as its first leader instilled a rich legacy which
we as black Americans cannot allow to be degraded or destroyed by those
who would come from the outside, not native Houstonians, to sell our
history for thirty pieces of silver.

Antioch has been the "star" for blacks coming to Texas from the U.S.
and abroad. To the very poor, it always opened its arms to encourage
them to excell, to give hope that they too could own land and homes.
The church saw to it that taxes were paid and deeds properly secured
in its early days. To the emerging black intelligencia and so called
middle class, it gave them a forum for discourse and organization.

RECEIVED {
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NYSTROM
3333 Elston Avenue, Chicago, Illinois 60618/(312) 463-1144

Multimedie Learning Bystama/Mops/Blobes/Models - g g i
Bivision of Oarnation Qompany
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The first elementary school for blacks in Houston and possibly in the
state of Texas was established by two white missionaries, Miss Jennie

L. Peck and M iss Florence Dysart with the aid of Jack Yates and Antioch
Baptist Church. This institution offered a place to meet and to plan

for the struggle to obtain education and resources for our people.

Black high schools and colleges held their commencement exercises here
throughout the years because there were no facilities available to them
otherwise. Cultural performing groups such as the Fisk Jubilee Singers
appeared here to raise funds for black institutions of higher learning.
Antioch can boast of having as its products graduates of Spelman Seminary
in 1896 and 1904. It can also list successfull professionals in all walks
of Tife as members and former members of the Church all over the world.

This rich heritage is further exemplified in the leadership of the late
Rev. Earl L. Harrison who served as third pastor of Antioch and later
as pastor of historic Shiloh Baptist Church, Washington, D.C. Further
the Rev. Thomas J. Goodall, the 4th pastor who later served Bethany
Baptist Church, Brooklyn, N.Y. Rev. Barbara Lewis King of the Hillside
Church, Atlanta, Georgia, is one of the children of Antioch encouraged
in her education by the church.

The State of Texas Historical Commission has, after three years of debate,
nominated this institution to the Nation al Trust as a historic site worthy
of preservation. On December 22, 1976, this was done. On February 14,
1977, the current pastor, without the consent of members, blacks of

Houston and those who respect and revere our "roots" sent the Texas

State Historical Commission a telegram demanding that they remove this

from the National Trust forthwith. This is unprecedented and unthinkable
when at a time in our country and our culture, blacks all over these

United States are trying to preserve and to protect our history, "our
roots", and our contributions.

Please do not turn a deaf ear on our struggle as blacks all over the
U.S. who have been made aware of this significant placement on the
National Trust are proud and elated because we are who and what we are
because of Antioch, Jack Yates and those strong, struggling forefathers.

We are pleased that the Texas State Historical Commission and the National
Trust for Historic Preservation have thusly honored black Americans through

Antioch Church and urge your assistance in preserving this institution
for future generations.

Respectfully submitted,

?ZC;Q/pé;zZLGxrl )@éZ;ZoaaﬁgéELZzﬁcq, ;
Mrs. Sammie Whiting E11is
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TRUETT LATIMER DATE REC'D 4 7
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

INDIVIDUAL RESPONSE (ATTACHED)
INFORMATIVE MATERIAL SENT

TELEPHONE CALL (ATTACHED)

DATE ACTION TAKEN l ILE Wl
INITIALS NOMM&,A IZZZAZ

March 28, 1977

Mr. Roberson L. King
4720 Dowling St.
Houston, TX 77004

Dear Mr. King: Ha RR1I'S, Co

The Texas Historical Commission nominated the Antioch Mission-

_ﬂ;;z_gggtistachn:gh_go the National Register in accordance with

e procedures set forth by the National Historic Preservation

Act of 1966. Enclosed is a copy of section 60.12 of that Act,
which explains the requirements for notifying owners that a
property is being considered for nomination to the National
Register. In the case of Antioch Missionary Baptist Church,
letters of notification were sent to Rev. Hicks on July 19,
1976, prior to the Review Board, and again on August 23,

1976, after the Review Board recommended that the church be
nominated. At the time of notification we received no response.

Also included is a copy of section 60.17, "Removing Properties
from the National Register," the provisions of which in our
opinion do not warrant the removal of this property from the
National Register.

Sificerely,

uet timer,
Executive Director

TL/mdl

cc: Dr. William Murtagh
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by the State Historic Preservation Ofi-|
cer and returned to the Federal agency
initiating the nomination along with a
letter confirming that the nomination
has been reviewed 2nd approved by the |
State Historic Preservation Ofiicer and
the review board, that the appropriate
owner or owners have been notified, and
that all other State procedures have been
fulfilled. Comments received by a State
concerning the significance of the prop-
erty should be included.

(d) Federally owned properties may be
nominated by the State as well. In such
cases the State Historic Preservation
Officer shall notify the appropriate Fed-
eral -representative in writing and, it
possible, an agency official within the
State before the nomination is forwarded
to the National Park Service.

§ 60.12 Notification.

(a) As indicated previously in § 60.2
(¢), the National -Register was designed

. and has been implemented as a plan-

ning tool. Federal agencies that under-
take a project having an effect on such a
listed property must provide the Advi-
sory Council on Historic Preservation a
reasonable opportunity to comment
pursuant to 36 CFR Part 800. Having
complied with this requirement, the
agency may adopt any course of action
it may feel appropriate. While the Ad-
visory Council comments must be taken
into account and integrated into the
decisionmaking process, the program de-
cision rests with the agency implement-
ing the undertaking. No requirements of
any kind are imposed upon private initia-
tive.

(b) The State Historic Preservation

[2dery ! ?Q?mriﬁf

72 .1
RJ*Z" co — /I/v//‘ﬁfﬁ/s%(//' A /S HorC

//Cfé

Serv/te

fed
/
Myf'/

Tk

property and to allow a reasonable op-

portunity for the presentation of written

comments concerning the property’s sig=

\niﬂcance prior to review board consider-

ation. The various States are also strong-"

Iy encouraged to notify appropriate
county or municipal authorities and to
allow them a reasonable opportunity to
present written comment concerning
that property’s significance prior to re-
view board consideration.

(d) In the event of a nomination of a

historic district of multiple ownerships .

where notice to individual property
owners is not practicable, each State is
required to notify appropriate county or
municipal authorities; to provide other
means of general notice concerning the
State’s intent to nominate the district;
and, to allow a reasonable opportunity
for the presentation of written comments
concerning the district's significance
prior to review board consideration.

(e) Historic Preservation Offi-
cers are required to inform property own-
ers or appropriate local authorities, as
:gpromﬁte ‘when %roperﬂes

() In consultation with the State’s -

Attorney, each State should adopt gen-
eral notification procedures consistent
with the considerations of this section
and provide the National Register with
a copy of these procedures when com-
pleted, and thereafter in the annual
State historic preservation plan or when-
ever changes are made,

§ 60.13 Publication in the Federal Reg-

ister.

(a) When a nomination is received,
'the National Park Service shall puT»llsh

Officer concept has been developed with- | riotice in the FEpERAL REGISTER that the

in the various States at the urging of the
Secretary of the Interior both to expand
the National Register and to implement
the historic preservation grants-in-aid
program created by the National His-
toric Preservation Act of 1966, 16 U.S.C.
470 et seq. (1970 ed.). As such, this posi-
tion has come to serve as a vital link be-
tween a State’s participation in these
programs and the National Park Service,
and as a blending of State and Federal
programs. This is particularly true of the
identification and nomination of prop-
erties to the National Register by a State,
which is required as a portion of the
comprehensive statewide historic and
cultural survey and a condition prece-
dent to participation in the grants-in-
aid program.

(¢) The identification and nomination
of historic and cultural resources, as a
function that has been assumed by the
various States, is essentially a State ac-
tion. The nomination of a property is a
proposal to the National Park Service
and does not constitute listing. However,
nominations received from the various
States are, in the vast majority of situa-
tions, accepted by the National Park
Service. Listing on the National Reg-
ister is a Department of the Interior
decision.

ﬁs_;g/___wt,@_@ggomlnaﬂon
process, each State is required to notify

‘property owners in writing at least once

of the States mtent to nominate a
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| property is being considered for listing
| and shall receive additional written com-
ments concerning the significance of the
property under National Register cri-
teria for evaluation whenever possible.
“(b) The National Register will notify
the State Historic Preservation Officer of
the listing of the property. The National
Register will also place notice of listing

in the FEDERAL REGISTER on a regular -

basis and in a cumulative edition which

will appear once a year, usually in l"eb-'

ruary.
§ 60.14 Other State and local programs.

State and local authorities that utilize
the National Register nomination as the
base for more restrictive provisions, such
as halt-in-demolition provisions, must be
aware that such uses of the information
provided to the National Register are
purely matters of State and local initia-
tive and subject to the scope of a State’s
police powers. Such State and local pro-
visions must be clearly separated from
the role of the National Register as a
planning tool and as the basis for par-'
ticipation in the historic preaervauon
grants-in-aid program.

Aces

(1) Nomination forms (10-300) are
prepared under the supervision of the
State Historic Preservation Officer.

(2) Notice is provided of the intent to
nominate the property and written com-
ments are solicited. With regard to prop-
erty under Federal jurisdiction or con-
trol, completed nomination forms should
be submitted to the Federal representa-
tive for review and comment regarding
the significance of the property. After
receiving the comments of the Federal
representative, or if there has been no
response within 45 days, the State His-
toric Preservation Officer may approve
the nomination and forward it to the
Keeper, National Register, National Park
Service, Washington, D.C. 20240. The
comments of the Federal representative
are appended to the nomination; or, if
there are no comments, an explanation
is attached.

(3) Completed nomination forms or
the documentation proposed for submis-
sion on the nominations forms are sub-
mitted to the State review board for ap-

~proval prior to submission to the National -

Register.

(4) Nomination forms approved by the
State review board are reviewed by the
State Historic Preservation Officer and,
if approved, signed with the affirmation
that all approprlate procedures have
been followed.

(5) The State Hlstoric Preservation
Officer submits the completed nomina-
tion and comments received by a State
concerning the significance of the prop-
erty to the Keeper, National Register;

National Park Service. Washington, D.C.
20240.

(6) Notice will be provlded in the Feo-
ERAL REGISTER that the nominated prop-
erty is being considered for listing in the
National Register of Historic Places and
comments will be received whenever pos-
sible concerning the significance of the
property. Copies of these written com-

“ ments will be supplied to the State His-

toric Preservation Officer.

(7) Nominations are reviewed by the
Office of Archeology and Historic Preser-
vation to determine technical and pro-
fessional sufficiency and conformance to
the National Register criteria for evalua-
tion and comments are considered.

(8) Nominations found to be techni-
cally and professionally sufficient and in
conformance with the National Register
criteria for evaluation will bée approved
by the Director, Office of Archeology and
Historic Preservation, and entered in the
National Register. Nominations found
technically or professionally inadequate

~ will be returned for correction and re-

submission. When a property does not
appear to meet the National Register

. criteria for evaluation, the nomination

§ 60.15 Processing of nominations. .U-.(‘

Nominations of properties to the Na-.
tional Register follow the process set .
forth below. :

(a) Nominations by the State Hlslorlo
Preservation Officer. 2

-

will be returned with an explanatory
le"&l‘.* -

" (b) Nominations by a Federal agency.
(1) Nomination forms (10-306) are
‘prepared under the supervision of the
Federal Representative designated by the
head of a Federal agency to fulfill agency

-mponslbllltles under Executive Order

11593.°

10, 1976



(2) Completed nominations are sub-
mitted to the appropriate State Historic
Preservation Officer for review and com-
ment regarding the significance of the
property and its eligibility for the Na-
tional Register.

(3) After receiving the comments of
the State Historic Preservation Officer,
or if there has been no response within
45 days, the Federal Representative may
approve the nomination and forward it
to the Keeper, National Register, Na-
tional Park Service, Washington, D.C.

" 20240. The comments of the State His-
toric Preservation Officer are appended
to the nomination, or, if there are no
comments, an explanation is attached.
Concurrent nominations cannot be sub-

> mitted, however, until the nomination
has been approved by the State in accord
with § 60.11, supra. Comments received
by the State concerning concurrent
nominations must be submitted with the
nomination.

(4) Notice will be provided in the
FepERAL REGISTER that the nominated
property is being considered for listing
in the National Register of Historic
Places and comments will be received
whenever possible concerning the signif-

cance of the property. Copies of these

written comments will be supplied to the
Federal representative and to the State
Historic Preservation Officer.

(5) Nominations are reviewed by the
Office of Acheology and Historic Pres-
ervation to determine technical and
professional sufficiency and conformance
to the Natlonal Register criteria for
evaluation and comments are considered.

(6) Nominations found to be techni-
cally and professionally sufficient and
in conformance with the National Reg-
ister criteria for evaluation will be ap-
proved by the Director, Office of Arche-
ology and Historic Preservation, and en-
tered in the National Register. Nomina-
tions found technically or professionally

" inadequate will be returned for correc-
tion and resubmission. When a property
does not appear to meet the National
Register criteria for evaluation, the nom-
ination will be returned with an explan-
atory letter.

§ 60.16 Changes and revisions to prop-
. criics listed in the National Register.

(a) Boundary changes. (1) A boundary
alteration should be handled as a new
. property nomination supplanting the old
nomination form. All forms, criteria, and
procedures used in nominating a prop-
erty to the National Register must be
used at both the State and Federal levels,
A professionally justified recommenda-
tion by the State Historic Preservation
Officer or Federal Representative must
be presented to the National Park Serv-
Ilce. During this process, the property is
not taken off the National Register. If
the National Park Service finds the rec-
ommendation in accordance with the Na-
tional Register criteria for evaluation,
the change will be accepted. If the
boundary change is not accepted, the old
boundaries will remain.

(2) Two justifications exist for al-
tering a boundary: Professional error

NOTICES

in the initial nomination or loss of his-
toric integrity. In some cases, accretion
of additional significance may also be
reason for altering property boundaries.
No enlargement of a boundary should be
recommended unless the additional area
possesses previously unrecognized signif-
icance in American history, architec-
ture, archeology, or culture. No diminu-
tion of a boundary should be recom-
mended unless the properties being re-
moved have lost the characteristics that

. endowed them with such significance

and qualified them for the initial nomi-
nation. Any proposal to alter a boundary

has to be documented in detail in order _

to avoid the necessity of an onsite in-
spection by National Park Service per-
sonnel. Specifically, the structures or
other historic resources falling between
the existing boundary and the other pro-
posed boundary should be photographed.

(3) Attention should be given to the
“Criteria for Effect,” promulgated by the
Advisory Council on Historic Preserva-
tion in “Procedures for the Protection of
Historic and Cultural Properties” (36
CFR Part 800), for use in the application
of section 106 of the National Historic
Preservation Act. According to these
triteria a project need not fall within
the boundaries of a National Register
property for an effect to exist.

(b) Relocating properties listed in the
National Register. (1) Properties listed
in the National Register should be moved
only when there is no feasible alterna-
tive for preservation. When a property is
moved, every effort should be made to
reestablish its historic orientation, im-
mediate setting, and general environ-
ment. ;

(2) If it is proposed that a structure
listed in the National Register be moved
and the State or Federal agency wishes
the property to remain in the National

Register curing and after the move, the |

State or Federal agency must submit
documentation prior to the move which |
should discuss:

(i) The reasons for the move; :

(ii) The effect on the property’s his-
torical integrity; and

(iii) The new setting and general en-
vironment of the proposed site, includ-
ing evidence that the proposed site does
not possess historical significance that |
would be adversely affected by the intru-
sion of the structure.

In addition, photographs showing the
proposed location must be sent along
with the documentation. Any such pro-
posal submitted by a State must be ap-
proved by the State review board and
will continue to follow normal review
procedures.

(3) If the National Park Service ap-
proves the proposal, the property will re-
main on the National Register during
and after the move unless the integrity
of the property is, in some unforeseen
manner, destroyed. If the National Park
Service does not approve the proposal,
the property will be automatically de-
leted from the National Register when
moved. If the State or Federal agency
has proof that previously unrecognized
significance exists, or has accrued, the

5909

State or Federal agency may resubmit a
g:lmlmtlon for the property as outlined
ow.
(4) In the event that a structure is
moved, deletion from the National Regis-

ter will be automatic unless the above

procedures are followed prior to the
move. If the property has already ieen
moved, it is the State or Federal agency's
responsibility to notify the National Reg-
ister. Assuming that the State or Federal
agency wishes to have the structure re-
entered in the National Register, it
must be nominated again on new forms
which should discuss;

(1) The reasons for the move;

(i) The effect on the property’s his-
torical integrity, and

(iii) The new setting and general en-
vironment, including evidence that the
new site does not possess historical sig-
nificance that would be adversely af-
fected by the intrusion of the site.

In addition, new photographs showing
the structure at its new location must be
sent along with the revised nomination.
Any such nomination submitted by a
State must be approved by the State re-
view board.

(5) Properties moved in a manner con-
sistent with the comments of the Advi-
sory Council on Historic Preservation, in
accord with its procedures (36 CFR Part
800), are granted an exception to § 60.16
(b). Moving of properties in acocord with
the Advisory Council's procedures should
be dealt with individually in each mem-
orandum of agreement.

§60 17 Removing properties from the
National Register.

j (a) Properties nominated by the States
| or Federal agencies will be removed from
i the National Register only when they
| have ceased to meet the criteria for the
National Register: when the qualities
| which caused them originally to be nom-
| Inated have been lost or destroyed; upon
| proof that an error in professional judg-
. ment has been made; or, for failure to
follow the procedures set forth herein.
Information concerning the loss of integ-
rity, error in judgement, or procedural
error should be submitted through the
appropriate State Historic Preservation
Officer or Federal representative to the
. Keeper, National Register, National Park
| Bervice, Washington, D.C. 20240.

““Dated: January 5, 1976.
GARY EVERHARDT,
Director, National Park Service.
[FR Doc.76-785 Filed 1-8-76;8:45 am]

T
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~ William J. Murtagh
Eeeper of the Hationsl Register
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% TELEPHONE (713) 526-5505
* LAW OFFICES

ROBERSON L. KING

4720 DOWLING STREET
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77004

March 21, 1977

The Keeper
National Park Service
Washington, D. C. 20240

Texas Historical Commission
P. 0. Box 12276

Capitol Station

Austin, Texas 78711

ATTENTION: MR. TRUEIT LATIMER, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Gentlemen:

I am General Counsel for the Antioch Missionary Baptist Church of Christ, Incorporated

and in this capacity, and in campliance with the provisions National Register, § 60.17

Removing Properties from the National Registers, hereby make formal request for removal
of the Antioch Baptist Church from the National Register.

As has been pointed out earlier in a mailgram addressed to Mr. Truett Latimer, dated
February 10, 1977 from Pastor H. Beecher Hicks, Jr., such action in placing the church
on the register was unauthorized by the church and, therefore, constitutes a unilateral,
urmwarranted interference into the affairs of the church by the conmission. The church
is a corporate body organized and existing pursuant to the laws of the State of Texas.
As legal entity it acts through and only through its congregation and/or Board of
Trustees. No other person, individual, or agency has any authority to deal with, alter
or in any mamner affect the private property rights of the religious corporate body
except upon the authority heretofore delineated.

The act of the Commission in nominating and the further act of listing Antioch Baptist
Church on the national register is, therefore, not only an error in judgment but such
a serious impairment of private property rights as would constitute such a restraint
upon alienation as to raise constitutional concerns.

I, therefore, urgently request the removal of the name of the Antioch Baptist Church
from the National Register forthwith. Your immediate reply and compliance is expected.

Very truly yours,

oberson L. King ;7/5

RIK:bgw

cc: Rev. H. Beecher Hicks, Pastor
Attorney W. H. Berry, Chairman
Board of Trustees
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H34-880 JUN 17 1977

Mr. Reberson L. King
4720 Dowling Street
Houston, Texas 77004

Dear Mr. King:

We are in receipt of your May 4, 1977, letter questioning the legality
of the National Register procedures for nomimating a property te

the Ratiopal Register of Histeric Places. We regret your oppositionm
to the listing of the Aatioch Missionary Baptist Chureh in the Natiomal
Register, but we are sure that you will sgree that this Gethic Revival
church, built black contrsctor Richard Allea, plays a significent
role in Housten's black history as the city's oldest black Bsptist
church end deserves specisl recognition.

Regulations prescribing the procedures for the listing of properties
in the National Register were promulgated on August 29, 1975, by
the Secretary of the Interior pursuant to the Hatiomal Histeric
Preservation Act of 1966. Both the act and its implementing regu~
lations have been subject te legal and judicial review and have
been comnsistently upheld. The regulations were adopted emly after
ample opportunity fer public review and comment.

It is important te note that the procedures followed in listing

the church did not invelve what your letter descrides se "unilatersl
ection.”™ Sections 60.12 and 60.13 of 36 CFR provide that 2 preperty
owner must be informed before his property is listed in the Natiomal
Register and must be afforded am opportumnity to comment upon the
proposed listing. Such comments are, of course, considered in
determining the appropriatemess of the listing of the property in
the National Register. We have been advised by the Texas State
historic preservation office that Reverend Hicks was sent two letters
of notificstion prior to nomination and that ne respomse was received.
Notice was placed in the "Pederal Register™ by the Nationsl Park
Service that the property wes being considered for listing in the
National Register. This notice provided property owners and other
interested parties with additicnal opportumity to comment on the
significance of the property umder the Watiomal Register criteria
for evaluation (36 CFR 60.6). Additional notificetion was sent

to Reverend Hicks after the property's listing with information

on the preservation provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1976. This
provided amother period during which time this office would again
consider comments concerning the property's sigmificence, We did
receive & number of letters supporting the property's nomination
and listing.



Finally, your March 21, 1977, letter appears to be concerned with
restrictions that you feel National Register listing might impose

on the property owner. HNational Register listing is recogmition

that a property possesses cultural and historic values and is comnsidered
vorthy of preservstien. Properties listed in the Mationsl Register
must be considered by Federal agencies during the plamning of any

of their undertskings which may affect the property, can qualify

for certain matching grants~in-aid, and may be subject to the preser-
vation provisions of the Tax Reform Act of 1976 which encourage
rehabilitation of certified historic structures and discourage their
demolition. In general, a certified historic structure must be
eligible for deprecistion uander sectien 167 of the Internsl Revenue
Code and must be either listed separately in the Natiomal Register,
or be in & historic district either listed in the National Register
or designated pursusnt to a State or local statute. We are enclosing
additional information on the Tax Reform Act and the National Register
program which will clarify these points.

We hope that this information will be helpful.

lluqcly yours,
Cﬁéfles LK. Herrington (Sgd.T

for
William J. Murtagh
Keeper of the Natiomal Register

Enclosures

cec: Mr. Truett Latimer
Executive Director, Texas
Historical Commission
P.0. Box 12276, Capitol Statiom
Austin, Texas 78711

bece: Regional Director-Southwest Region
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TELEPHONE (713) 526-5505
LAW OFFICES

ROBERSON L. KING

4720 DOWLING STREET
HOUSTON, TEXAS 77004

Mey 4, 1977

Mr. Truett Latimer

Executive Director

Texas Historical Commission

P. 0. Box 12276, Capitol Station
Austin, Texas 78711

Mr. William J. Murtagh

Keeper of the National Register

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

Washington, D. C. 20240
Gentlemen:

I am in receipt of letters fram Truett Latimer and William J. Murtagh which in
effect state that in your collective opinions matters stated in my earlier letter
do not constitute adequate grounds for removal from the register of the Antioch
Missionary Baptist Church of Christ, Incorporated.

I find it difficult to understand the legality by which governmental agency can
affect private property rights by unilateral action. Such does constitute a

grave error in judgment. 212 -

The Board of Trustees and Pastor will be so notified of your interpretation of
the law and my advice to them will be to seek judicial review of your action
by way of declaratory and injunctive relief.

Very truly yours,

RLK:bgw

cc: Rev. H. Beecher Hicks
cc: Mr. Weldon Berry
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v NR Data Sheet Py A
"\_/Ang.)och Missionary Baptist Church

' NAME ;s 17 apeears :y{m:m REGISTER:
Antioch Baptist Church - 4£gC -

OTHER NAMES:

LOCATION: /

STREET & NUMBER 313 Robin St.

CTY. TOWN /HOUS ton CONGRESSIONAL DISTRICT
VICINITY OF -

STATE / Texas 048 NTY code

/Harris - 201
OWNER OF PROPERTY! (circie) @ STATE LOCAL GOV'T MUNICIPAL COUNTY OTHER

ADMINISTRATOR (underliine)

NPS REGION: (CIRCLE) N.ATLANTIC

P

J FEATURES:

INTEEIOR

.Substantially intact-l

unknown - 4

FEDERAL (AGENCY NAME) :

MID ATLANTIC SOUTHEAST

MIDWEST

¢ SOUTHWEST/ ROCKY MOUNTAIN WEST PACIFIC NORTHWEST

¥ Substantially intact-2

ENVIPOXNS
— Substantially intact-3

unknown .-5

_.unkncvn -6
__not applicable - 8

_ Nct appliczkle-9
Interdor, exterior, cnvircns not intact-0

— not applicable - 7

CONDITION =  —FXCELLENT __DETERIORATED Zcﬁnnso -4maumu.snz
Zcfooo \ —RUINS LTERED —MOVED
wafl —UNEXPOSED —Reconstructed ~Unknecwn
~Unexcavated -Excavated
S @ Yes-urrestricted No access Unknown
. historic district? YES @
. WITHIN NATIONAL REGISTER HISTORIC DISTRICT? YES @
IF YES, NAME:
WITHIN NATIONAL HISTORIC LANDMARK? YES (NO
> ' IF YES, NAME: .
ADAPTIVE USE; YES > Saved ? YES %0
' -
v FUNCTION (S): {(use vdcabulary words)
: then- ./ _/ ;

now- e / M,,é

J SIGNIFICANCE:
1
RCHEOLUGY-PREHISTORIC IDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE ¥ RELIGION _entertainment
// —ARCHEOLOGY-HISTORIC —CONSERVATION 'y «Zuw,'cov' t/politics _science —health
~—AGRICULTURE ONOMICS —UTERATURE —recreation
~ARCHITECTURE o DUCATION —MILITARY ~—SOCIAL/HUMANITARIAN - ttlement
_ART __ENGINEERING _MuSIC 30\/::cio/ cultural
—COMMERCE _EXPLORATION _PHILOSOPHY —TRANSPORTATION —urban & commun
—COMMUNICATIONS —INDUSTRY —POLITICS OOVERNMENT— —OTHER (SPECIFY) planning
J p —INVENTION \
Claims

ot Bbck ot
¢ oldest ™ no;’f:f:

e e
‘first? ves  wo “only’.’ YES NO
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Brick, plastered and scored to resemble stone; s2 stories, T-shaped,
cross-gable roof; front entrance and befl tower with curvilinear gable parapet,
stylized buttresses, and pointed-arched openingsj original l-story hasielk-
church enlarged, 1890's; original steeple repla.ced,\-bm;- 19015; -remodeled-
by a.dd.rbions?/ and exterior plastering, 1930's.

Gothic Revival. One of oldest buildings in downtown area; _gll.l/ 2nd

church built for city's flrs:(rl866 %lack congregation. /nfluentia.l ﬂ]ackg
mMMnci&did Richard Allené\)) ember of #dhe-first TX

legislature in which Blacks served&and pastors John Henry Gates,a leader in
2

the development of Black education in Houston; and Frederick Lights a leader in

in_locady-state yend-nationed-religous, educational, and civic affdirs.



